STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Darlington County

Honorable Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

CHARLTON L. HILL,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

PETITIONER,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2015-002428

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ORIGINAL
RECEIVED
AUG 17 2016
SC SUPREME COURT

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the PCR court correctly grant a belated direct appeal review pursuant to White v. State , 263 S.C. 110, 208 S.E.2d 35 (1974) because the applicant did not knowingly and voluntarily waive his appellate rights because his trial attorney filed the notice of appeal one day late?

2. Did the PCR court err in not finding trial counsel ineffective for failing to investigate Petitioner's case timely and then asking for a continuance at trial in order to talk to witnesses who were significant to Petitioner's defense that he was not the driver as they observed the petitioner and his wife just prior to the incident, and trial counsel knew approximately six weeks earlier that the case was being called for trial that term.

STATEMENT

On January 8, 2010 in Darlington County, Trooper David Gainey with the South Carolina Highway Patrol, observed a 2005 Chevy Cobalt run off the shoulder of the road several times which made the trooper think the driver might be under the influence. Trooper Gainey followed the car and activated his car camera mounted in the windshield to record evidence as he did with every traffic stop. App. 130, ll. 17 – App. 134, ll. 25.

Trooper Gainey activated his blue light and the car appeared to be slowing down to stop. As the trooper exited his car, he testified that he could see the driver whom he described as a “gentleman with short hair, kind of salt and pepper.” App. 137, ll. 11 – 24. Suddenly, the Cobalt sped away with Trooper Gainey in pursuit. The trooper reached speeds of around one hundred miles per hour. The Cobalt vehicle did not make a bend in the road and ran off the road flipping end over end several times. App. 91, ll. 1 – 24. The Cobalt vehicle traveled two hundred and three feet when it hit a dead pine tree lying in the ditch line. The car continued to travel eighty-eight more feet before it stopped two hundred and ninety-one feet from the time the car left the roadway. App. 196, ll. 16 – App. 201, ll. 12.

When Trooper Gainey approached the crashed car, he found Petitioner Hill in the driver’s seat holding the steering wheel. The trooper said that Hill smelled of alcohol. About thirty seconds later, Trooper Gainey found the body of Hill’s wife, Sylvia Hill, about six feet from the car. She was deceased at that point due to extensive injuries. App. 137, ll. 25 – App. 138, ll. 22; App. 105, ll. 1 – 25.

The forensic pathologist who performed the autopsy testified that something hit Sylvia Hill very hard in her upper body. Her head and neck were almost detached from her body when she was found outside of the car. The top of her head was torn away, and she had severe tearing

on her body. Death was due to the avulsion of the brain, heart, and lung which were “torn out of the body due to blunt force trauma of the upper body due to a motor vehicle collision.” App. 252, ll. 1-23; App. 254, ll. 15 – App. 256, ll. 7. The toxicologist was not able to test the victim’s blood because they were unable to obtain blood from her because she “bled out.” App. 236, ll. 17 – App. 237, ll. 11.

The forensic investigator, Russ Harrell, testified at trial that he found in the crashed car four beer cans. Three were empty and the fourth was partially empty. He found the passenger seat completely pushed down to the rear with the head rest missing. He also found two logs in the car; one was hanging out of the back door. The end of one of the logs had some fabric; what appeared to be hair; and apparent blood. App. 167, ll. 10 – App. 168, ll. 24; App. 178, ll. 3 – App. 179, ll. 23; App. 184, ll. 15 – App. 185, ll. 12.

Petitioner Hill was transported to the hospital by EMS. On the way while he was in the ambulance, the EMS worker, Michelle Quick, asked Hill if he had consumed any alcohol. Hill responded to her that he had consumed two twenty-two ounce beers, Xanax, and Soma which was a muscle relaxer. Defense counsel objected. App. 102, ll. 1 – App. 104, ll. 25.

A blood sample was taken from Hill by implied consent after he was arrested for felony DUI with death. App. 121, ll. 1 – 25. The toxicology report indicated that Hill’s blood alcohol level was .152. The report also indicated that other chemicals were found such as metabolites of cocaine and marijuana, hydrocodone, Benadryl, tramadol, Soma. App. 218, ll. 1 – App. 219, ll. 2. On September 10, 2010, the Darlington County Grand Jury Indicted Hill for felony driving under the influence with death resulting and driving under suspension (DUS). On April 11, 2011, he was indicted for failure to stop for a blue light (FTSBL) with death resulting; reckless homicide; and involuntary manslaughter. App. 600 – App. 614.

On April 13, 2011, Hill proceeded to trial before the Honorable J. Michael Baxley and a jury. Hill was represented by Emily Crayton and Matthew S. Swilley. The state was represented by John Holt, Kendall Burch, and Patti McKenzie-Parker. App. 1.

At trial, Hill's defense was that he was not driving the Chevy Cobalt vehicle. App. 95, ll. 15 – App. 96, ll. 25. In a pretrial motion, defense counsel moved for a continuance in order for him to talk to witnesses who would testify in defense of Hill. One was his mother who was in a nursing facility but who was lucid as counsel said he did visit her and talk with her the day before. Counsel believed she was competent to testify. However, she needed more time to “convalesce” due to the physical condition in order to attend court. App. 76, ll. 6 – 23.

The other witness was Mackie Tomlinson who would testify as to what he observed when Hill and his wife left Tomlinson's home just prior to the accident. Counsel had talked to Tomlinson's brother the previous week who said Tomlinson was in a rehabilitation facility but would not say where. Counsel said to the court: “I think a continuance would allow the defense to speak to Mr. Tomlinson as well. And I would move for a continuance on these grounds.” App. 76, ll. 23 – App. 77, ll. 9.

The judge denied the motion because counsel admitted that he learned on March 7, 2011 that Hill's trial would be this term which was April 13, 2011. The judge said that was almost five weeks before trial so he denied the motion. App. 77, ll. 10 – App. 78, ll. 14.

At trial, when the video from Trooper Gainey's car, State's Exhibit 121, was entered into evidence, defense counsel objected pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE as being more prejudicial than probative and “overly cumulative.” The judge overruled this objection and the video was published to the jury. App. 135, ll. 12 – 23.

The jury found Hill guilty on all charges as indicted. App. 323, ll. 1 – 25. The judge sentenced Hill to twenty-five years on the felony DUI with death; to ten years on the reckless homicide; five years on the involuntary manslaughter. These sentences were to run concurrent. On the FTSBL with death, the judge sentenced him to a consecutive sentence of ten years. App. 341, ll. 8 – App. 343, ll. 23.

Hill's attorney filed a notice of appeal one day late. The Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal as untimely on May 24, 2012. App. 590; App. 403 – App. 406.

On March 25, 2013, Petitioner Hill filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). The state filed a return on April 1, 2014. An evidentiary hearing was held on July 27, 2015 before the Honorable Thomas A. Russo. Hill was represented by Tristan Shaffer, and the state was represented by Joshua L. Thomas. App. 511.

At the PCR hearing, Hill's PCR attorney asked the court for a belated appeal pursuant to White v. State, 263 S.C. 110, 118, 208 S.E.2d 35, 39 (1974) because the notice of appeal was filed one day late. The state did not object. App. 514, ll. 25 – App. 515, ll. 25.

Petitioner Hill testified that his trial attorney provided ineffective assistance of counsel because he did not investigate his case. Hill said his defense at trial was that he was not driving, and that his wife was "actually under the wheel when the traffic stop was initiated." Hill provided to trial counsel witnesses and where to contact them. And Hill wanted to know how he could retrieve his telephone and check "his itinerary and interview witnesses." Hill said law enforcement "posed" him behind the wheel of the car and took pictures. There was no forensic evidence indicating that Hill was driving. Blood and DNA were taken from the car and submitted to SLED but were returned "unanalyzed." App. 523, ll. 10 - App. 525, ll. 25.

Trial counsel testified that the trooper testified at trial that he saw Hill turn around and look at him from behind the driver's seat just before Hill sped away on the car chase. App. 548, ll. 1-25; App. 551, ll. 3 – 24. Trial counsel responded, when asked about witnesses Hill wanted interviewed, stated that Hill wanted counsel to speak with Hill's mother about her letting Sylvia have the car keys. Counsel said he went to the hospital and spoke with the mother but said: "She didn't really seem –I mean, she was conscious but didn't really seem very lucid and couldn't recall very much from the date that Sylvia had died." App. 555, ll. 24 – App. 556, ll. 12.

Then counsel admitted that Hill told him of some other people whom they had been with "preceding the auto chase." Counsel said he was unable to locate them. He could not remember any of their names. App. 556, ll. 13 – 16.

Emily Crayton testified at the PCR hearing that she was second seat on the trial, and got involved about three to four weeks before the trial. She said that Hill received a plea offer for twenty-two years on March 28, 2011. However, she stated that Hill "absolutely declined " and wanted to plead only to involuntary manslaughter. App. 571, ll. 1 – App. 572, ll. 20.

On October 7, 2015, Judge Russo issued an order granting Hill a belated direct appeal review pursuant to White v. State, id. The judge denied the PCR application otherwise and dismissed it with prejudice. App. 589 – App. 599.

The judge found that Hill failed to meet his burden of proof that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate witnesses who potentially could have shown that the victim was driving the car. The judge found that Hill's testimony that his wife was driving the car when it "careened off the road," and that the police staged photos of him behind the wheel "wholly not credible." The judge wrote that the evidence indicated that Hill was driving because a tree limb that entered the passenger side of the windshield would have caused serious injury to the head

and neck of anyone in the passenger seat as were the injuries of Sylvia Hill. The judge found trial counsel's testimony credible that he attempted to investigate Hill's case by talking with witnesses, and so counsel's performance was "not deficient."

Hill's PCR attorney filed a timely notice of appeal. This petition follows accompanied by an Anders brief pursuant to White v. State, supra

ARGUMENT

1.

The PCR court correctly granted a belated direct appeal review pursuant to White v. State, 263 S.C. 110, 208 S.E.2d 35 (1974) because the applicant did not knowingly and voluntarily waive his appellate rights because his trial attorney filed the notice of appeal one day late.

Hill's attorney filed a notice of appeal one day late. The Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal as untimely on May 24, 2012. App. 590; App. 403 – App. 406.

Hill's PCR attorney related at the PCR hearing that an appeal was not filed after Hill's trial, and that was one of the main issues he was raising in his PCR. His trial counsel missed the deadline by one day. App. 514, ll. 3 – App. 515, ll. 25; App.403; App. 403 – App. 406.

The PCR judge found that Hill did not knowingly and voluntarily waive his right to a direct appeal and granted Hill the right to a belated appeal according to White v. State, 263 S.C. 110, 108, S.E.2d 35 (1974). App. 591; App.599.

On review, a PCR judge's findings will be upheld if there is any evidence of probative value to support them. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989). Trial counsel must ensure that a criminal defendant is made fully aware of his appeal rights. White v. State, 263 S.C. 110, 208 S.E.2d 35 (1974).

The order of the PCR court granting the belated appeal should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

2.

The PCR court erred in not finding trial counsel ineffective for failing to investigate Petitioner's case timely and then asking for a continuance at trial in order to talk to witnesses who were significant to Petitioner's defense that he was not the driver as they observed the petitioner and his wife just prior to the incident, and trial counsel knew approximately six weeks earlier that the case was being called for trial that term.

Petitioner Hill testified that his trial attorney provided ineffective assistance of counsel because he did not investigate his case. Hill said his defense at trial was that he was not driving, and that his wife was “actually under the wheel when the traffic stop was initiated.” Hill provided to trial counsel witnesses and where to contact them. Hill wanted to retrieve his telephone and check “his itinerary and interview witnesses.” Hill said law enforcement “posed” him behind the wheel of the car and took pictures. There was no forensic evidence indicating that Hill was driving. Blood and DNA were taken and submitted to SLED but were returned “unanalyzed.” App. 523, ll. 10 - App. 525, ll. 25.

Trial counsel testified that the trooper testified at trial that he saw Hill turn around and look at him from behind the driver's seat just before Hill sped away on the car chase. App. 548, ll. 1-25; App. 551, ll. 3 – 24. Trial counsel responded, when asked about witnesses Hill wanted interviewed, that Hill wanted counsel to speak with Hill's mother about her letting Sylvia have the car keys. Counsel said he went to the hospital the day before trial and spoke with the mother but said: “She didn't really seem – I mean, she was conscious but didn't really seem very lucid

and couldn't recall very much from the date that Sylvia had died." App. 555, ll. 24 – App. 556, ll. 12.

Then counsel admitted that Hill told him of some other people whom they had been with “preceding the auto chase.” Counsel said he was unable to locate them. He could not remember any of their names. App. 556, ll. 13 – 16.

Where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove that “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985).

A two pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. The applicant must prove that counsel’s performance was deficient and fell below reasonable professional norms; and there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result would have been different. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 480 S.E.2d 733 (1997).

In Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 642 S.E.2d 590 (2007), the Supreme Court found that trial counsel was ineffective because a criminal defense attorney has a duty to investigate, but this duty was limited to reasonable investigation. The Court defined a reasonable investigation at a minimum has the duty to interview potential witnesses and to make an independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case.

The trial transcript disputes trial attorney's testimony at the PCR. At trial, Hill's defense was that he was not driving the Chevy Cobalt vehicle. App. 95, ll. 15 – App. 96, ll. 25. In a pretrial motion, defense counsel moved for a continuance in order for him to talk to witnesses who would testify in defense of Hill. One was his mother who was in a nursing facility but who was lucid as counsel said he did visit her and talk with her the day before trial. Counsel believed she was competent to testify. However, she needed more time to “convalesce” due to the physical condition in order to attend court. App. 76, ll. 6 – 23.

The other witness was Mackie Tomlinson who would testify as to what he observed when Hill and his wife left Tomlinson's home just prior to the accident. Counsel had talked to Tomlinson's brother “last week” who said Tomlinson was in a rehabilitation facility but would not say where. Counsel said to the court: “I think a continuance would allow the defense to speak to Mr. Tomlinson as well. And I would move for a continuance on these grounds.” App. 76, ll. 23 – App. 77, ll. 9.

The judge denied the motion because counsel admitted that he learned on March 7, 2011 that Hill's trial would be that term which was April 13, 2011. The judge said that was almost five weeks before trial so he denied the motion. App. 77, ll. 10 – App. 78, ll. 14.

Trial counsel was ineffective for waiting until just before trial to contact potential witnesses who could provide information about who was driving the Cobalt vehicle which was Hill's defense. Even if the witnesses could not say definitely who the driver was, they could likely provide information that could cause reasonable doubt as to the driver was-such as who had the car keys. The PCR court erred in not finding trial counsel ineffective for this reason.


In Lounds v. State, 380 S.C. 454, 670 S.E.2d 646 (2008), the Supreme Court reversed the PCR court's denial of Lounds' PCR application and remanded for a new trial because trial

counsel was found to be ineffective for not adequately preparing for trial so as to be able to call key witnesses.

This was the situation in Hill's case in that his trial counsel was ill prepared for trial since he not talked to key witnesses sufficiently before trial.

CONCLUSION

Based on the above, certiorari should be granted and the order of the PCR court reversed and the case remanded for a new trial on Issue 2. The order of the PCR court granting a belated appeal should be affirmed on Issue 1.


LaNelle Cantey DuRant
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER