STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

JAN -3 2017

Certiorari to Darlington County
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2015 – 002428
Lower Court Case No. 2013-CP-16-00261

CHARLTON L. HILL, SCDC # 152778,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHANNA C. VALENZUELA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
SC Bar #79834

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3733

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of the Darlington County Clerk of Court. In September 2010, the Darlington County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for felony driving under the influence resulting in death (2010-GS-16-1335) and driving under suspension (2010-GS-16-1336). (App. pp. 601-602, 604-605.) In April 2011, the Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for failure to stop for a blue light resulting in death (2011-GS-16-422), reckless homicide (2011-GS-16-423), and involuntary manslaughter (2011-GS-16-424). (App. pp. 607-608, 610-11, 613-614.) Matthew S. Swilley, Esquire, and Emily M. Crayton, Esquire, (collectively, "trial counsel") represented Petitioner. On April 13, 2011, Petitioner proceeded to trial before the Honorable J. Michael Baxley and a jury. (App. p. 1, p. 12, ll. 1-2.) The jury found Petitioner guilty as indicted. (App. pp. 603, 606, 609, 612, 615.) Judge Baxley sentenced Petitioner to concurrent terms of twenty-five years for felony driving under the influence resulting in death, ninety days for driving under suspension, ten years for reckless homicide, and five years for involuntary manslaughter. (Id.) Judge Baxley sentenced Petitioner to a consecutive term of ten years for failure to stop for a blue light resulting in death. (Id.)

Petitioner filed a notice of appeal, but the South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal as untimely on May 24, 2012. (Supp. App. pp. 3.) The remittitur was returned to the circuit court on August 7, 2012. (Supp. App. p. 4.)

Petitioner then filed a Post-Conviction Relief application on March 25, 2013. (App. p. 346.) Respondent made a timely Return on or about April 1, 2014. (App. p. 506.) The Court convened an evidentiary hearing into the matter on July 27, 2015, at the Darlington County Courthouse. (App. p. 511.) Petitioner was present at the hearing and represented by Tristan M.

Shaffer, Esquire. Joshua L. Thomas, Esquire, of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office, represented Respondent.

The PCR Court issued an Order granting Petitioner relief pursuant to *White v. State* and dismissing the remaining allegations. (App. p. 589.) Petitioner filed a Notice of Appeal, and the Petition for Writ of Certiorari was filed on August 17, 2016. This Return follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Summary of the Trial

For purposes of this Return to the Petition for Writ of Certiorari, Respondent adopts the summary of the trial in Petitioner's brief on pages 2-4.

Summary of the Relevant Testimony at the PCR Hearing

At his PCR hearing, Petitioner testified he was aware there was in-car video from the patrol vehicle that was following the car before he wrecked it, and he knew there were photos. However, Petitioner claimed he did not know there were "120 pictures of—of me, where they posed me," which he explained meant that he was alleging law enforcement told him to sit back in the driver's seat and put his hands on the wheel. (App. p. 524, l. 18 – p. 525, l. 6.) Petitioner admitted he had never told his counsel that police had "posed" him in those pictures. (App. 544, ll. 12-14.) Petitioner testified his defense at trial was that the victim was "actually under the wheel when—when the traffic stop was initiated." (App. p. 525, ll. 12-16.)

Petitioner's trial counsel Matthew Swilley testified that he did not recall Petitioner ever claiming police had posed him in the driver's seat to take photos. (App. p. 551, ll. 3-11.) Trial counsel testified the officer who pursued Petitioner's vehicle testified he saw Petitioner driving the vehicle and trial counsel confirmed the in-car video from the patrol car corroborated that testimony. (App. p. 551, ll. 12-16.) Trial counsel explained that, although their defense at trial

was that Petitioner was not driving, trial counsel had explained to Petitioner that he could not “really fathom a jury finding [Petitioner] not guilty of anything with the video. I mean, it was – it—it was overwhelming.” (App. p. 554, ll. 7-17.) Trial counsel testified he did meet with Petitioner’s mother prior to trial about Petitioner’s claim that she let the victim have the car keys. (App. p. 556, ll. 2-6.) Trial counsel testified Petitioner’s mother was in the hospital at the time and when questioned about what she recalled from the day of the accident, “she couldn’t—she didn’t really seem—I mean she was conscious, but she didn’t really seem very lucid and couldn’t recall very much from the date that [the victim] had died.” (App. p. 556, ll. 2-11.) Trial Counsel also testified Petitioner said other individuals were with Petitioner and the victim before the car chase, but counsel was not able to locate them. (App. p. 556, ll. 13-16.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard of review of a post-conviction relief evidentiary hearing is whether “any evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985).

In a PCR action, “[t]he burden of proof is on the petitioner to prove his allegations by a preponderance of the evidence.” Frasier v. State, 351 S.C. 385, 389, 570 S.E.2d 172, 174 (2002) (citing Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC). Where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for relief, Petitioner must prove that “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064 (1984); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985).

The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Courts presume that counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Butler, 286 S.C. at 441, 334 S.E.2d at 813. Petitioner must overcome this presumption to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

First, Petitioner must prove that counsel’s performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney performance is measured by its “reasonableness under professional norms.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 385 S.E.2d at 625 (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668, 104 S.Ct. at 2064). Second, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced Petitioner such that “there is a reasonable

probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

ARGUMENT

I. The PCR court was correct in ruling Petitioner was entitled to a belated review of direct appeal issues pursuant to White v. State.

Petitioner's trial counsel failed to perfect a direct appeal from the trial, and Petitioner testified he requested and wanted a direct appeal to be filed. Respondent agrees Petitioner should be allowed to petition this Court for belated review of direct appeal issues because he did not knowingly and voluntarily waive his right to an appeal.

II. Certiorari is not warranted where the PCR court correctly found Counsel reasonably attempted to investigate Petitioner's witnesses, where there is no evidence in the record about what Petitioner's witnesses would have testified to, and where there is overwhelming evidence of Petitioner's guilt.

Petitioner argues Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to further investigate witnesses provided by Petitioner who could have provided testimony about who was seen with keys to the car prior to the accident. Petitioner argues further investigation would have helped him present a defense that the victim was "under the wheel when the traffic stop was initiated." This issue is without merit. Counsel properly investigated the defense by contacting one of the witnesses and attempting to contact the other witness provided by Petitioner. Furthermore, prejudice cannot be established by Petitioner because neither witness testified at the PCR hearing as to what their testimony would have been at trial, and a defense that Petitioner was not the one driving was highly unlikely and not supported by the overwhelming evidence of Petitioner's guilt.

"Criminal defense attorneys have a duty to undertake a reasonable investigation, which at a minimum includes interviewing potential witnesses and making an independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case." Edwards v. State, 392 S.C. 449, 456, 710 S.E.2d 60,

64 (2011) (internal citations omitted). “Failure to conduct an independent investigation does not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel when the allegation is supported only by mere speculation as to the result.” Moorehead v. State, 329 S.C. 329, 334, 496 S.E.2d 415, 417 (1998) (citing Kibler v. State, 267 S.C. 250, 227 S.E.2d 199 (1976)). Furthermore, “[a] PCR petitioner cannot show that he was prejudiced by counsel's failure to call a favorable witness to testify at trial if that witness does not later testify at the PCR hearing or otherwise offer testimony within the rules of evidence.” Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 369, 610 S.E.2d 812, 814 (2005) (citing Glover v. State, 318 S.C. 496, 498, 458 S.E.2d 538, 540 (1995)); cf. Lounds v. State, 380 S.C. 454, 461-63, 670 S.E.2d 646, 649-51 (2008) (finding counsel was ineffective where counsel offered **no testimony** on strategy for failing to call witnesses critical to petitioner’s defense and where **both witnesses testified at the PCR hearing** as to what evidence they would have been prepare to offer at trial but for trial counsel’s deficiency).

Here, Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof, and there is clearly evidence to support the PCR court’s ruling. Trial counsel testified he did interview Petitioner’s mother, but she was not in any condition to offer favorable testimony for Petitioner, which is why counsel requested a continuance. Trial counsel also attempted to interview other witnesses provided by Petitioner but was unable to do so because they could not be located. There is nothing in the record to indicate interviewing the other witnesses would have led to any different result. Trial counsel testified he observed Petitioner driving the vehicle on the in-car video that was part of the evidence offered at trial and presented to the jury. The fact that Petitioner was seen behind the wheel of the car both by a witness and on the in-car video, as well as being found behind the wheel after the wreck, makes it very difficult for Petitioner to deny his guilt.

Petitioner has also failed to prove prejudice. Unlike the petitioner in Lounds, here,

Petitioner presented **no witnesses** at the evidentiary hearing to demonstrate he was not driving the vehicle when it crashed. Neither Petitioner's mother nor Mackie Tomlinson testified. See Dempsey, 363 S.C. at 369, 610 S.E.2d at 814 ("A PCR petitioner cannot show that he was prejudiced by counsel's failure to call a favorable witness to testify at trial if that witness does not later testify at the PCR hearing or otherwise offer testimony within the rules of evidence." (citing Glover, 318 S.C. at 498, 458 S.E.2d at 540)). The PCR court did not err in finding Trial Counsel committed no error and that Petitioner was unable to meet his burden of establishing any prejudice from the alleged error.

Overwhelming Evidence

Furthermore, independent of the above analysis, Petitioner cannot show he was prejudiced by the actions or decision of trial counsel because the record contains overwhelming evidence of his guilt.

Where there is overwhelming evidence of guilt, a trial counsel's representation will not be prejudicial. Ford v. State, 314 S.C. 245, 442 S.E.2d 604 (1994); see also Humbert v. State, 345 S.C. 332, 548 S.E.2d 862 (2001), Geter v. State, 305 S.C. 365, 409 S.E.2d 344 (1991); cf. Vasquez v. State, 388 S.C. 447, 463-64, 698 S.E.2d 561, 569 (2010) ("[T]he sheer weight of the evidence in the instant case does not negate the prejudicial impact of the solicitor's improper comments"). In Ford, trial counsel failed to request an alibi instruction and his representation was found deficient as a result. However, the evidence of the petitioner's guilt in Ford was overwhelming, and the South Carolina Supreme Court held the petitioner failed to prove the second prong of Strickland, which requires that a petitioner show prejudice by the deficient representation.

Here, Petitioner can prove no resulting prejudice. The arresting officer saw Petitioner driving the vehicle before it crashed. (App. 137, ll. 11-24.) After the crash, Petitioner was behind the steering wheel. (App. p. 137-138; p. 104, ll. 1-25.) The victim's injuries were consistent with the theory that she was sitting in the passenger seat, where a tree limb entered the passenger side windshield of the car and would have caused serious injury to the head and neck of any person in the passenger seat. (App. p. 242, ll. 1-23; p. 254, ll. 14-p. 256, l. 7; App. p. 167, ll.10-p. 168, ll. 24; p. 178, l. 3-p. 179, l. 23; p. 184, l.15-p. 185, l. 12.) Petitioner's consensual blood test was positive for alcohol, cocaine, hydrocodone, marijuana, Tramadol, and Soma. (App. p. 102, l. 1-p. 104, l. 25.) Accordingly, Petitioner cannot show prejudice from trial counsel's actions.